IN THE	SUPREME COURT
OF THE S	TATE OF FLORIDA
C	ASE NO.: 73, 949
	A-3 NO.: 86-2031
	SID J. WHITE
Ма	DV PDOLAI
Plainti	Lff/Appellagterk, SUPREME, COURT
	By
	VS. Deputy Clerk
M. DAVID SIMS. M.D.: SOUTH	MIAMI HOSPITAL FOUNDATION, INC.;
THE FLORIDA PATIEN	TS COMPENSATION FUND; AND
FLORIDA PHYSIC	IANS PROTECTIVE TRUST,
Defenda	nts/Appellees.
Derenda	ncs/apperices.
	PPELLEE'S BRIEF ON
DISCRETIONARY JURISD	ICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT
	Pamela Beckham, Esq.
	CAREY, DWYER, ECKHART, MASON,
	SPRING & BECKHAM, P.A.
	2180 Southwest 12th Avenue
	Miami, Florida 33129 (305) 856-9920
	FLORIDA BAR NO.: 359998

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P.A.

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a medical malpractice action brought against M. DAVID SIMS, a gynecologist, CHRISTIAN KEEDY, a neurosurgeon and South Miami Hospital. (A. 1-2) The action involves the alleged negligence of the Defendants in clearing MARY BROWN for elective abdominal surgery. MARY BROWN suffered a stroke shortly after such surgery. (A. 1)

DR. SIMS saw the Plaintiff in his office on April 4th, 1980 to evaluate an abnormal ovarian cyst. DR. SIMS conducted a complete physical examination which included listening to the Plaintiff's heart and lungs with a stethoscope. While in DR. SIMS office, MARY BROWN complained of pain in her right hand and arm as well as weakness. DR. SIMS also recalled that MARY BROWN was holding her arm in a cradle position. DR. SIMS requested that DR. KEEDY, the neurosurgeon conduct an examination of MRS. BROWN due to complaints of pain and weakness in her arm, one day prior to her scheduled hysterectomy. (A. 2)

DR. KEEDY visited MARY BROWN in her room at South Miami Hospital on April 7th, 1980 where she had been admitted for the operation. It is important to note that DR. KEEDY had treated MARY BROWN previously for cervical disc problems. DR. KEEDY testified that he performed a neurological examination, while MARY BROWN contended that KEEDY'S only examination was to test her grip with a hand shake. Nonetheless, DR. KEEDY admitted that he did not auscultate the carotid arteries in MARY BROWN'S neck and that he never carries a stethoscope with him. (A. 2)

DR. KEEDY did not write a report for his April 7th, 1980

consultation. He testified that he did not make any notations on BROWN'S chart because the consult sheet was not available. He did however orally give DR. SIMS a pre-surgical clearance to operate on MARY BROWN. (A. 3)

Dr. Albanes, the Staff Physician at South Miami Hospital took a patient's history and testified that he also performed a physical examination of MRS. BROWN. The evidence is conflicting as MARY BROWN declared that Dr. Albanes never touched her. (A. 3)

The Plaintiff's expert witness regarding the standard of care rendered by DR. SIMS was Dr. Gross. Dr. Gross testified that it was good medical practice to get a consult from DR. KEEDY in a case such as this. (A. 4)

The Plaintiff then attempted to have Dr. Sidney Cohen testify as to the standard of care rendered by DR. SIMS. During the <u>voir dire</u> examination of Dr. Cohen the court ruled that he was not qualified to testify as to standard of care rendered by DR. SIMS. Dr. Cohen is a Board Certified Neurologist in New York since 1951 and is associated with a New York Hospital. However, the last time that Dr. Cohen had anything to do with actual obstetrics and gynecological work was in his first year as an intern in 1943 when he delivered a baby. Thus, the trial court found in the <u>record</u> that the doctor did not possess sufficient training, experience and knowledge in obstetrics and gynecology to testify as to DR. SIMS care and treatment of MARY BROWN.

Based on the opinion of Dr. Gross, at the conclusion of the evidence, in a ten day trial, the court directed a verdict for DR. SIMS. On the following day the jury returned verdicts in favor of DR. KEEDY and the Hospital. (A. 2)

-03-

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal in the instant case never deferred to the trial court's inquiry regarding the training, experience, and knowledge of Dr. Cohen, a neurosurgeon to testify as to the standard of care of DR. SIMS, the Petitioner, a gynecologist. It is incumbent upon this court to recognize that although the Third District Court of Appeal cites <u>Chenoweth v.</u> <u>Kemp</u> in support of its decision to reverse this cause and to allow Dr. Cohen to testify, the Third District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict with Chenoweth v. Kemp.

The court in <u>Chenoweth</u> was primarily concerned with the determination that the trial court must make in order to allow or disallow a proffered expert from testifying. While the <u>Chenoweth</u> court on its facts said, that the lower court erred in not allowing two neurosurgeons to testify that a gynecologist and anesthesiologist were negligent in positioning a patient on the operating table, it is more important to recognize why this court found that to be error. This court held in <u>Chenoweth</u> that:

> "The record is clear that the court made this determination, not upon any finding that they did not possess sufficient training, experience, or knowledge to provide such expert testimony, as allowed under paragraph (c) of §768.45(2), but solely because they were neither specialists nor board certified in either gynecology or anesthesiology."

In the instant cause, the trial court made the necessary determination that Dr. Cohen did not have sufficient training, knowledge or experience to testify as to the standard of care of DR. SIMS. This finding was based on the trial court's finding that Dr. Cohen was a board certified neurologist since 1951 and

-04-

was associated with a New York Hospital. However, the last time that Dr. Cohen had anything at all to do with actual obstetrics or gynecological work was in his first year as an intern in 1943 Thus, the record had sufficient when he delivered a baby. information from which the trial court can make the necessary determination as to the proffered experts qualifications to standard of care of a gynecologist. testify as to the Notwithstanding same, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the opinion citing Chenoweth, which is in direct conflict with the important factors that lead to the Chenoweth decision.

The Third District Court of Appeal opinion is also in direct conflict with <u>Wright v. Schulte</u>, <u>Caputo v. Taylor</u> and <u>Young v.</u> <u>Board of Hospital Directors of Lee County</u>, as both of those cases also stress the need to make the necessary inquiry when an expert is proffered as to his training, knowledge and experience. Both of those cases made their decision as to whether or not to allow an expert to testify based on that analysis. The Third District Court of Appeal has entirely overlooked that analysis and is seeking to rely on cases that actually stand for exactly the opposite conclusion.

Therefore, it is abundantly clear that the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in the case at bar, is in direct conflict with <u>Chenoweth v. Kemp</u>, <u>Wright v. Schilte</u>, <u>Caputo v.</u> <u>Taylor</u>, and <u>Young v. Board of Hospital Directors of Lee County</u> and as such this Court must exercise its jurisdiction to resolve the conflict in the instant cause.

-05-

#### ARGUMENT

# THE INSTANT OPINION IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH <u>CHENOWETH v.</u> <u>KEMP</u>, <u>WRIGHT v. SCHULTE</u>, <u>CAPUTO TAYLOR</u> AND <u>YOUNG v. BOARD</u> OF HOSPITAL DIRECTORS OF LEE COUNTY

It is clear that the Third District Court of Appeal opinion in the instant cause is in direct conflict with the decision of this Court and a number of sister districts as to the issue of when to allow an expert to testify in a medical malpractice case when the expert is not a similar health care provider. The court in <u>Chenoweth v. Kemp</u>, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1918), was primarily concerned with the determination that a trial court needs to make in order to allow or disallow an expert from testifying. While the <u>Chenoweth</u> court on its facts, did say the lower court erred in not allowing two neurosurgeons to testify that a gynecologist and anesthesiologist were negligent in positioning a patient on the operating table, it is clear that the important factor is why the court found this to be error. The court in Chenoweth stated:

The trial court, after studying this section [768.45(2)(b)(c)], refused to allow the two neurosurgeon to testify. The record is clear that the court made this determination, not upon any finding that they did not possess sufficient training experience, or knowledge to provide such expert testimony, as allowed under paragraph (c) of section 768.45(2), but solely because they were neither specialists nor board certified in either gynecology or anesthesiology.

(In the footnote the court included the following excerpt from the trial:

<u>Mr. Varner</u>: It is your Honor's ruling that this particular surgeon does not have the training, experience and knowledge to provide expert testimony?

-06-

The Court: My ruling is that in order for him to be able to testify against these gentlemen, he should be certified.

<u>Mr. Varner</u>: That he has to be Board Certified?

<u>The Court</u>: He has to be a specialist. I have made my ruling, whether it is right or wrong, you have a record here. Let's not pursue it any longer. (T. 142).) <u>Id</u>. at 1124-25.

This Court in <u>Chenoweth</u> found it was error to exclude the expert testimony due to the court's reason for exclusion of witnesses and this was not based upon a finding as to their lack of training, experience or knowledge as is necessary under Florida Statute 768.45(2). In the Third District Court of Appeal opinion in the instant case, the Court entirely overlooked the fact that the court did make specific findings relating to Dr. Cohen's ability to testify and the trial court stated:

> <u>The Court</u>: I will make findings based on the testimony that I have heard from the Doctor, that I do not believe that it has been, has not been shown to my satisfaction, that this doctor possesses sufficient training, experience and knowledge as a result of practice or teaching in the obstetrics and gynecologic specialty.

> In order to show practice or teaching in related field of medicine so as to be able to provide such expert testimony as to the prevailing of DR. SIMS' specialty. But, ... it means that I do not think his experience qualifies him to testify about DR. SIMS. (R. 136-7).

It is abundantly clear, that <u>Chenoweth</u> is in direct conflict with the holding of the Third District Court of Appeal in the instant cause.

-07-

This case is also in direct conflict with <u>Wright v. Schulte</u>, 441 So.2d 660 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). The court in <u>Wright</u> again determined the necessity to make certain initial determinations in a medical malpractice case when the expert was not a similar health care provider. The instant case has failed to acknowledge the necessity and the importance of deferring to the trial court as to the proffered experts training experience and knowledge. In Wright the court held,

> the trial judge must determine whether the proffered expert possesses sufficient experience, and knowledge to training, provide expert testimony as to the acceptable standard of care in a given cause. The trial judge in the case before use did not do this; simply rejected Dr. Shanklein on the he is not a surgeon and, ground that he therefore, was incompetent to testify as to the standard or care in a case involving alleged negligence in the performance of a surgical procedure. Id. at 661-2.

Again, just as <u>Chenoweth</u> is in direct conflict with the Third District Court's findings in the instant case so is <u>Wright</u>, as the court in <u>Wright</u> stressed the necessity to make sufficient inquiry and findings based upon the witnesses lack of training experience or knowledge, similarly so did the trial court in the instant cause, however the Third District has refused to acknowledge same.

Similarly in <u>Caputo v. Taylor</u>, 403 So.2d 551, 554 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), the Court found no error in the trial court's ruling that a pathologist was not qualified to testify as to the standard of proper care and treatment of potential breast cancer patients. As the court stated,

Section 768.45(2)(c), Florida Statutes,

-08-

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P.A.

provides that a doctor may testify as to the expected standard of care for a given health care provider if he is a similar health care provider or if it is established to the satisfaction of the court that he possesses sufficient training, experience and knowledge to provide such expert testimony as to the acceptable standard of care in a given Dr. Feegel is not a "similar health case. provider" since he is not care а The question then became one gynecologist. for the trial court as to whether the witness sufficient training and knowledge to had allow him to testify as to an acceptable standard even though he is not a similar provider.

When the court in <u>Caputo</u>, reviewed the record they found that the trial court had not abused its discretion in refusing to allow the pathologist to testify. This is important as the <u>Caputo</u> Court also made the necessary findings and analysis, as did the trial court in the case at bar.

Similarly, in <u>Young v. Board of Hospital Directors of Lee</u> <u>County</u>, 426 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the trial court did not err in refusing to allow a psychiatrist to testifying about the standard of care applicable to a psychiatric nurse. The trial court found that the psychiatrist was not a "similar health care provider" and the expert did not satisfy the trial court as to the level of training, experience and knowledge. The Second District affirmed and held; "The record supports the trial court's dissatisfaction with the psychiatrist's experience and knowledge relevant to the standard of care in issue, including, for example, the psychiatrist's lack of familiarity with the dayto-day practices of a psychiatric nurse." <u>Young</u> at 1081.

Dr. Cohen was not a similar health care provider since he was not an obstetrician or gynecologist. The trial court then

-09-

determined that he lacked sufficient training and knowledge necessary to testify as to the standard of care at issue.

The Court made sufficient inquiry once it determined that Dr. Cohen was not a gynecologist but rather was a neurosurgeon. The Court then went on to evaluate whether he had sufficient training and experience in light of the fact that he would be testifying as to the standard of care of a gynecologist. The trial court was not satisfied that Dr. Cohen did not have that necessary training and experience. There is certainly ample evidence to support the trial court's dissatisfaction with Dr. Cohen being able to render an opinion as to the standard of care afforded by DR. SIMS in the instant cause. That determination is the exact determination that was required to be made in Chenoweth v. Kemp, Wright v. Schulte, Caputo v. Taylor, and Young v. Board of Hospital Directors of Lee County. It is therefore apparent that the Third District Court of Appeal in the instant cause is in direct conflict with those cases as the Third District has refused to follow the dictates of this Court and adhere to the trial court's inquiry. Therefore, it is abundantly clear, that this Petitioner is entitled to review of this cause as the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict with the decision of this Court and the sister districts.

-10-