IN	THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
	CASE NO. 73,949
	3D DCA NO. 86-2031
M. DAVID SIMS, M.D.,)
Petitioner,)
vs.	
MARY BROWN,	, FILED
Respondent.) SID J. WHITE
	APR 26 1989 CLERK, SUPREME COURT
	By Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

PAUL SIEGEL, ESQ. SINCLAIR, LOUIS, SIEGEL, HEATH, NUSSBAUM & ZAVERTNIK, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 1125 Alfred I. duPont Building Miami, Florida 33131 (374-0544) Fla. Bar #073838

Sinclair, Louis, Siegel, Heath, Nussbaum & Zavertnik, P.A.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal decided that a neurologist should have been permitted to testify that a gynecologist failed to conduct a thorough pre-surgical physical examination. The issue in this case is not whether a mistake was made during the surgery, but whether there was substandard care before the surgery even began. The decision is completely consistent with Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981) in which this Court decided that neurosurgeons should have been permitted to testify about the way the patient was positioned on the operating table under the care of a gynecologist and an anesthesiologist. In the instant case, the Third District Court of Appeal specifically relied upon Chenoweth and followed it. Nothing in the decision and nothing said in the opinion is remotely inconsistent with this Court's <u>Chenoweth</u> case. Similarly, there is nothing whatsoever to establish any conflict between the instant case and the other three District Court of Appeal decisions relied upon In the absence of an express and direct conflict by Dr. Sims. required by our constitution, this Court is without certiorari jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE INSTANT OPINION AND ANY OF THE CASES CITED BY SIMS.

The principal case relied on by Sims for conflict jurisdiction is <u>Chenoweth v. Kemp</u>, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981). In <u>Chenoweth</u>, two neurosurgeons were offered as expert witnesses

SINCLAIR, LOUIS, SIEGEL, HEATH, NUSSBAUM & ZAVERTNIK, P.A.

on whether a specialist in obstetrics and gynecology and an anesthesiologist were negligent in the way in which they positioned and secured the patient on the operating table. This Court found (396 So.2d at 1125):

> While it is clear that the proffered witness would not have been competent to testify on certain acts performed by the appellees, such as the hysterectomy performed by Kemp or the anesthetizing performed by Szmukler, it is not at all clear that the two neurosurgeons were not qualified under the statute to testify concerning the positioning of the patient on the operating table and the effect of that positioning. The standard of care for this portion of the procedure may well be, as claimed by one of the neurosurgeons, the same for all surgeons relative to protection of the ulnar nerve from compression or other injury. We find the exclusion of these witnesses, under the circumstances, was error. However, we find it was harmless error, since it was not disputed that if the ulnar nerve injury was caused on the operating table, such would constitute a breach of the standard of care for both Kemp and Szmukler.

Far from creating an express and direct conflict with <u>Chenoweth</u>, the Third District strictly adhered to this Court's decision. The Court specifically noted that the testimony offered by Dr. Cohen addressed the issue of whether Dr. Sims conducted a "thorough pre-surgical physical examination". The appellate court found that Dr. Cohen should have been permitted to testify "because it is the presurgical omission, rather than a surgical mishap, which allegedly caused the damage" (A 5). The appellate court noted Dr. Cohen's testimony "that he regularly does presurgical physicals for neurological and gynecological patients." (A 4). Thus, the finding by the trial judge, blindly repeating the statutory formula at the urging of Sims' attorney, that Dr. Cohen did not possess sufficient training, experience and knowledge as a result of practice or teaching in the obstetrics and gynecological specialty, was erroneous and not supported by the record. There is complete consonance, rather than dissonance, with <u>Chenoweth</u>.

Sims argues that there is direct conflict with Chenoweth because the trial court in <u>Chenoweth</u> did not make a finding that the witness did not possess sufficient training, experience or knowledge to provide the testimony, while the trial court in the instant case did make such a finding under the statutory formula. That is simply a factual difference between the cases, but not an express and direct conflict between the decisions. Part of the appellate process was a review by the District Court of Appeal of whether the trial court's finding of lack of statutory qualifications to testify was supported by the record. There was no record support for the finding because the issue was presurgical clearance, on which many different specialists could testify, rather than the way the surgery was done. Article V does not give this Court jurisdiction to make a second review of that finding.

Nor do the other three cases cited by Sims remotely present any conflict with the instant decision. In <u>Caputo v. Taylor</u>, 403 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), the Court found no error in a trial judge's refusal to allow a pathologist to testify about the standard of care of a gynecologist since there was agreement on the standard of care by all of the witnesses. In <u>Wright v.</u> <u>Schulte</u>, 441 So.2d 660 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), error was found in not permitting a physician qualified by experience and teaching to testify, even though he was now a specialist in a field different from that of Defendant. In <u>Young v. Board of Hospital</u> <u>Directors</u>, 426 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the record supported a trial court finding that the proffered expert did not have the level of training experience and knowledge to testify. Nothing said or decided in <u>Brown v. Sims</u> is remotely inconsistent with anything said or decided in these three cases.

Unfortunately for Mary Brown, Dr. Sims did not understand that his patient needed a thorough pre-surgical history and physical examination, recorded in Mary Brown's chart, before Sims operated. Now, Sims' attorneys have failed to comprehend that the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal again relates to testimony about the pre-surgical standard of care, which <u>Chenoweth</u> and many other cases have decided can be the subject of testimony by experts other than those who specialize in the particular part of the body to be operated upon. It is simply common sense that there are many different kinds of doctors who clear patients for surgery; they do not need to be expert on the thousands of different surgeries which can be done, in order to offer an opinion on whether the pre-surgical clearance was adequate.

CONCLUSION

No hint of express and direct conflict has been suggested by Dr. Sims. Certiorari should be denied.

SINCLAIR, LOUIS, SIEGEL, HEATH, NUSSBAUM & ZAVERTNIK, P.Á Attorneys for Appellee 1125 Alfred I. duPort Building Miami, Florida 33/31 (374-0544) BY SIEGEL PAUL